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AGRICULTURE, a federal department; 
THE UNITED STATES FISH AND 
WILDLIFE SERVICE, a federal agency; 
SALLY JEWELL, in her official capacity 
as Secretary of the Interior; and THE 
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 
THE INTERIOR, a federal department,  
 
      Federal-Defendants. 

 
  
 

INTRODUCTION1 

1. Plaintiffs, Montana Backcountry Hunters and Anglers et al., hereby bring 

this civil action against the above named Federal-Defendants (the United States 

Forest Service or “Service” and the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service or “FWS”) 

pursuant to the Administrative Procedure Act (APA), 5 U.S.C. § 701 et seq., and 

section 11(g) of the Endangered Species Act (ESA), 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g), for 

violations of the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), 42 U.S.C. § 4321 et 

seq., the National Forest Management Act (NFMA), 16 U.S.C. § 1600 et seq., and 

section 7 of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1536. 

2.  This civil action challenges the Service’s controversial decision to 

eliminate Forest Plan Standard 4a, the Helena National Forest’s big game security 

standard. Standard 4a was designed to provide secure areas for elk and other big 

                                                        
1Counsel for Federal-Defendants provided written consent to Plaintiffs to file an 
amended complaint. This amended complaint therefore being filed without leave of 
the court pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 15(a)(2). 
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game species on public lands by ensuring sufficient vegetative hiding cover and 

low open road densities remained on the landscape during the fall hunting season. 

Under Standard 4a, the more vegetative hiding cover, the more open road density 

allowed during the fall hunting season. The less hiding cover, the less road density 

allowed.  

3. Standard 4a’s hiding cover/road density approach for managing big game 

security on the Helena National Forest was developed with input for local wildlife 

biologists and was based on the best available published scientific literature. 

Compliance with Standard 4a’s numeric requirements were also easy to measure 

and monitor. Standard 4a remained part of the Helena Forest Plan for thirty years 

and is still being implemented in other areas of the Helena National Forest, 

including the Elkhorn Wildlife Management Unit which is prized for its elk herds. 

4. On March 1, 2016, the Service issued a final decision eliminating 

Standard 4a’s hiding cover/road density standard in the Helena National Forest’s 

Divide landscape. The Service chose to replace Standard 4a with discretionary 

goals and guidelines and a new, experimental “security standard.” The Service’s 

new security standard: (a) completely removes the hiding cover component from 

big game security; (b) excludes habitat conditions and road densities on private 

lands; and (c) exempts broad categories of “temporary” and “administrative” uses 

from big game security.  
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5.  The Service’s decision to eliminate Standard 4a and replace it with a new 

treeless standard was made in the absence of an environmental and alternatives 

analysis required by NEPA and without complying with section 7 of the ESA’s 

consultation requirements. The Service failed to consult on how the decision to 

eliminate Standard 4a would impact grizzlies, Canada lynx (lynx), and lynx critical 

habitat in the Divide landscape. The Service’s decision also conflicts with the best 

available science on managing for big game security and is a significant 

amendment to the Helena Forest Plan that will likely have major negative effects 

on the amount of vegetative hiding cover and habitat available for big game and 

other wildlife species on our public lands. The decision will also likely displace elk 

and other big game species from public lands and reduce public hunting 

opportunities on the Divide landscape. The Service’s decision to eliminate 

Standard 4a and replace it with a treeless security standard also sets a dangerous 

precedent for how big game security is defined and managed on National Forest 

lands.   

6. Wherefore, Plaintiffs – a coalition of organizations dedicated to protecting 

and enhancing habitat security (and reducing vulnerability) for elk and other big 

game species and ensuring sufficient hunting opportunities remain on public lands, 

are hereby compelled to pursue this civil action.  
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

7. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, 5 U.S.C. § 704, 

and 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(1).  

8. Venue is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) and (e). 

9. Plaintiffs have exhausted all administrative remedies. Plaintiffs have 

complied with the notice requirements of section 11(g)(2)(A) of the ESA, 16 

U.S.C. § 1540(g)(2)(A). Plaintiffs have Article III standing to pursue this civil 

action. There is a present and actual controversy between the Parties. This matter is 

ripe for judicial review. Final agency action subject to judicial review exists 

pursuant to 5 U.S.C. §§ 702 and 704. This Court has authority to issue the relief 

requested under 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202, 5 U.S.C. §§ 702 and 706, 16 U.S.C. 

§ 1540(g).  

PARTIES 

10.  Plaintiff, MONTANA BACKCOUNTRY HUNTERS AND ANGLERS 

(Montana BHA) is a non-profit conservation group headquartered in Missoula, 

Montana. Montana BHA is an informed and engaged group of Montana hunters 

and anglers who value the challenge, peace and solitude that occurs with a quiet-

use backcountry experience. Montana BHA values the wild lands, wildlife and fish 

that make Montana a special place to live and worthy of the title "Last Best Place." 

As an all-volunteer grassroots group, Montana BHA works across our diverse 

public lands, from grasslands to peaks. Montana BHA strives to protect large 

parcels of backcountry fish and wildlife habitat, as well as the opportunity for 

traditional non-motorized hunting and fishing experiences. As Montana sportsmen 

and women, Montana BHA recognizes that standing up for these threatened 
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resources, values and opportunities now is the only way our kids will have the 

same opportunities in the future. Montana BHA brings this action on behalf of its 

members and supporters. 

11.  Plaintiff, MONTANA WILDLIFE FEDERATION (MWF) is non-profit 

organization founded in 1936 when landowners and sportsmen banded together to 

restore depleted wildlife in our state. MWF works every day to ensure abundant 

wildlife, healthy habitat and public hunting and fishing opportunities remain on our 

public lands and to ensure members of the public are able to use and enjoy our 

public fish and wildlife resources. MWF is comprised of 20 affiliate clubs from 

throughout the State of Montana and has more than 5,000 members who are spread 

across the country. MWF is Montana’s oldest and largest wildlife conservation 

organization. MWF brings this action on behalf of its members and supporters. 

12. Plaintiff, the ANACONDA SPORTSMEN’S CLUB is a member-based 

organization whose core values depend upon Montana’s exceptional wildlife 

resource and the landscapes that sustain us all. The Anaconda Sportsmen’s Club is 

dedicated to the heritage and tradition of hunting and conservation of our wildlife 

legacy.  Many of the Anaconda Sportsmen’s Club members have a long-time 

history of bird and big game hunting along the Continental Divide and within the 

Helena National Forest. The Anaconda Sportsmen’s Club brings this action on 

behalf of its members and supporters. 

13. Plaintiff, HELENA HUNTERS AND ANGLERS ASSOCIATION is a 

non-profit organization based in Helena, Montana. Helena Hunters and Anglers 

Association is dedicated to protecting and restoring fish and native wildlife to all 

suitable habitats and to conserving all natural resources as a public trust, vital to 
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our general welfare. The Helena Hunters and Anglers Association works to 

promote the highest standards of ethical conduct and sportsmanship, and promotes 

outdoor recreation opportunity for all citizens to share equally. Members and 

supporters of the organization depend on healthy, functional, intact public lands of 

the Helena National Forest because they sustain and nurture our way of life. The 

Helena Hunters and Anglers Association brings this action on behalf of its 

members and supporters. 

14. Plaintiff, CLANCY UNIONVILLE CITIZEN’S TASK FORCE (Task 

Force) is a non-member public benefit group (filed with the State of Montana) 

formed in 1997. The Task Force is concerned with land management issues on 

public lands south of Helena. The Task Force is composed of local residents who 

use the public lands near our homes for non-motorized recreation, hunting, hiking, 

wildlife viewing, and public educational programs.  For the last 17 years the Task 

Force has actively engaged the Helena National Forest in productive discussion 

about travel planning for this area. The Task Force brings this action on behalf of 

its members and supporters. 

15. These Plaintiff organizations, their members, and supporters are 

committed to protecting and enhancing habitat security (and reducing 

vulnerability) for elk and other big game and wildlife species in the Divide 

landscape within the Helena-Lewis and Clark National Forest and ensuring 

sufficient hunting opportunities remain on public lands in Montana. Members and 

supporters of these organizations routinely recreate and hunt on National Forest 

lands within the Divide landscape at issue in this case and hope and plan to 

continue to do so in the future. These organizations and their supporters and 
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members are also committed to ensuring the Service complies with the law 

(NEPA, NFMA, APA, and the ESA), takes a hard look at the environmental 

consequences of its decision, evaluates a reasonable range of alternatives, and 

utilizes the best available science before making significant and consequential 

changes to how big game security is defined and managed on our public lands. 

16. Many of Plaintiffs’ members and supporters have been and continue to 

be adversely affected by the Service’s actions and/or inactions as described in this 

complaint. Members and supporters of the Plaintiff organizations have, among 

other interests, aesthetic, professional, recreational, and personal interests in 

improving big game security, habitat for threatened and endangered species, 

reducing elk vulnerability, and protecting and enhancing hunting opportunities 

within the Divide Landscape of the Helena National Forest. Members and supports 

of the Plaintiff organizations also have an interest in making sure public officials 

apply the best available science and take a hard look at all available alternatives 

and impacts before making important and significant decisions that affect public 

resources.  

17.  Members and supporters of Plaintiffs’ organizations live near, recreate 

in and visit, and have specific plans to return soon to hunt, recreate in, and visit the 

Divide landscape within the Helena National Forest that is the subject of this 

complaint. These members and supporters are adversely affected by the Service’s 

decision – especially in the absence of full NEPA, ESA, and NFMA compliance – 

to eliminate Standard 4a and replace it with an experimental treeless “security 

standard.” These members and supporters have suffered procedural injury by the 

Forest Service’s decision to eliminate Standard 4a without complying with NEPA, 

Case 9:16-cv-00110-DLC   Document 9   Filed 10/24/16   Page 8 of 25



8 

section 7 of the ESA, and NFMA. The Service’s decision challenged in this 

complaint makes it less likely that important hiding cover will be provided for big 

game species in the Divide landscape, less likely that security will be properly 

managed, more likely that elk and other big game species will become overly 

vulnerable, and more likely that big game will be displaced from public lands and 

hunter opportunities reduced. These members and supporters of the Plaintiff 

organizations have not been compelled to participate in this lawsuit. The Service 

has disregarded (or largely ignored) these members’ and supporters’ comments and 

objections and right to be fully informed of, to participate in, and to seek to 

influence agency decisions that impact big game security on the Helena-Lewis and 

Clark National Forest.  

18. If this Court issues the relief that the Plaintiff organizations request, the 

harm to their missions, members and supporters will be alleviated and/or lessened.  

19. Defendant the UNITED STATES FOREST SERVICE (the Service) is a 

federal agency within the United States Department of the Agriculture. The 

Service is responsible for agency actions challenged herein. 

20.  Defendant the UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 

AGRICULTURE is a federal department responsible for applying and 

implementing the federal laws and regulations at issue in this complaint. 

21. Defendant the UNITED STATES FISH AND WILDLIFE SERVICE 

(FWS) is a federal agency within the United States Department of the Interior. 

FWS is responsible for the ESA actions challenged herein. 
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22. Defendant SALLY JEWELL is named in her official capacity as 

Secretary of the Interior. Secretary Jewell is the federal official responsible for 

ESA provisions at issue in this complaint. 

23.  Defendant the UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE 

INTERIOR is a federal department responsible for applying and implementing the 

ESA provisions at issue in this complaint. 

FACTS 

Big game security 

 24.  The term “big game security” refers to the need to provide secure areas 

for elk and other big game species (mule deer, while-tailed deer, moose, and other 

game animals) from hunters during the fall hunting season (and also from 

predators). The published literature defines “security” as the protection inherent in 

any situation that allows big game to remain in a defined area despite an increase 

in stress or disturbance. Security therefore allows elk and other big game species to 

remain on public lands and avoid being displaced onto private lands while under 

stress during the fall hunting season. 

 25.  There are a number of variables that contribute to big game security. 

These include open road density and the amount of vegetative hiding cover. Other 

variables include topography, weather conditions, the timing and duration of the 

hunting season, hunter numbers, technology, land ownership, and hunting 

regulations. Security is never a one-size-fits-all recipe. Security must be 

determined and mapped by qualified local biologists after taking into consideration 

all potential variables.  
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26.  The best available science reveals that in areas where forest cover is 

ubiquitous (e.g., parts of northern Idaho and western Montana) big game security 

can sometimes be controlled with road density and hunting management alone. As 

you move east, however, and into drier forest conditions, vegetative hiding cover 

becomes more important for security purposes because it is less abundant and less 

contiguous. Federal land management agencies like the Service only have control 

over a few of the important variables that contribute to big game security. These 

include retention of vegetative hiding cover, travel management, and enforcement 

of travel regulations. 

 27.  The best available science reveals that failing to provide the necessary 

amount of security during the fall hunting season may have significant impacts on 

elk and other big game species and reduce hunting opportunities.  

28.  When elk and other big game species lose too much vegetative hiding 

cover, are too easily accessible to too many hunters, or technology advances 

beyond the ability of elk and other big game species to easily escape and evade 

bullets and arrows, they become overly vulnerable. This can impact the health of 

the herd by lowering cow-to-bull ratios, disrupting the age and sex structure of 

ungulate populations, disrupting social orders, and restricting genetic selection and 

reducing reproduction rates. Too much elk vulnerability (due to low security) also 

leads to more displacement of elk and other big game species off of public lands 

and onto private lands and ultimately decreases hunter opportunity. 

 Standard 4a: the Service’s big game security standard 

29. For the past thirty years, and in accordance with the best available 

science, the Service managed big game security on the Helena National Forest 
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(now the Helena-Lewis and Clark National Forest) pursuant to Standard 4a in the 

Helena National Forest Plan (1986).  

30.  Standard 4a is based on the relationship between the amount of 

vegetative hiding cover and the amount of open road density during the big game 

rifle season.  

31. Pursuant to Standard 4a, the term “open road density” includes all 

motorized routes open during the big game rifle season. Roads are calculated at 

100 percent the length of all public roads and 25 percent the length of private roads 

(this relationship is based on research indicating that roads with less use have 

reduced impacts to big game). The Service defines “hiding cover” as a timber 

stand which conceals 90 percent or more of a standing elk at 200 feet. Because this 

definition relies on the amount of horizontal cover, it can only be measured in the 

field, stand by stand. The Montana Department of Fish, Wildlife and Parks 

(MDFWP) defines “hiding cover” differently, as stands of coniferous trees with a 

crown closure greater than 40 percent. Under this definition, hiding cover can be 

measured using aerial photo interpretation and satellite imagery. The Service 

considers MDFWP’s definition and canopy cover approach to be an acceptable 

proxy or surrogate for hiding cover. The Service assumes that stands with 40 

percent canopy cover or greater would provide adequate screening cover to hide 90 

percent of a standing elk at 200 feet. This assumption is inaccurate.  

32. Pursuant to Standard 4a, the amount of hiding cover (measured under 

either the Service’s definition or MDFWP’s definition) dictates the level of open 

road density allowed. The more hiding cover, the more road density allowed. 
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Conversely, the less hiding cover, the less open road density allowed. The specific 

numeric values included in Standard 4a are as follows:   

Existing % cover (Service) Existing % cover (MDFWP)  Open Road Density 

56    80     2.4 miles per square mile 

49    70     1.9 miles per square mile 

42    60     1.2 miles per square mile 

35    50     0.1 miles per square mile 

 33.  Standard 4a states that the existing hiding cover to open road density 

ratio should be determined over a large geographic area, such as a timber sale 

analysis area, a third order drainage, or an elk herd unit. To implement Standard 4a 

the Service has relied solely on the elk herd unit to measure hiding cover to open 

road density.  

34. Pursuant to Standard 4a, big game security is calculated for all lands 

(regardless of ownership) within an elk herd units, including all private lands. This 

is because elk and other big game species do not recognize differences in land 

ownership. This means Standard 4a takes into account road densities and various 

types of projects on private lands inside the elk herd unit (ski developments, 

mining activity, as well as logging, home developments, etc.). Standard 4a also 

takes all motorized routes open during the big game rifle season into account when 

determining open road density. There are no exemptions for temporary or 

administrative management activities under Standard 4a. 

35. Standard 4a’s hiding cover/road density approach – which remained part 

of the Helena Forest plan for thirty years and remains the relevant standard in the 

Elkhorn Wildlife Management Unit - was developed with input from state and 
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federal biologists and incorporates over 15 years of research from the Montana 

Cooperative Elk-Logging Study. Standard 4a’s approach for managing big game 

security is grounded in the relevant scientific literature and published papers, all of 

which demonstrate that hiding cover (in addition to other variables, i.e., road 

density, terrain, hunting pressure, technology) is an important component to 

maintaining big game security and decreasing elk vulnerability during the hunting 

season. This is especially true in the Helena National Forest where conditions are 

drier and forest stands less abundant.  

The Service’s 2016 decision to eliminate Standard 4a 

36. On March 1, 2016, the Service signed a final record of decision 

eliminating Standard 4a’s hiding cover/road density approach for managing big 

game security on the Divide landscape in the Helena National Forest and replacing 

it with discretionary goals and guidelines and a new experimental “security area” 

standard. The Divide landscape includes portions of Hunting Districts 293, 343, 

215, and 335 and the Black Mountain-Brooklyn Bridge, Greenhorn, Jericho, Little 

Blackfoot Spotted Dog, Little Prickly Pear –Ophir, and Quartz elk herd units. This 

planning area is broader than the Service’s related Divide travel planning area as it 

includes some areas (Quartz, Black Mountain – Brooklyn Bridge, and Little 

Prickly Pear Creek) not covered by the Divide travel plan. 
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 37. Pursuant to the Service’s new “security area” standard, the Agency will 

no longer include hiding cover as a component of managing for big game security. 

Pursuant to the new standard the amount of available hiding cover for elk and other 

big game species (under either the Service’s definition or MDFWP’s definition) is 

no longer a relevant factor or part of the applicable security standard. Under the 

new security standard, the Service will also no longer take habitat conditions on 

private land occurring within an elk herd unit into account or consider the impacts 

from all routes open for motorized use during the fall hunting season. A broad 

category of “administrative uses” and “temporary” use will be exempt from the 

security standard. 

38.  Under the new standard, the Service will manage for big game security 

pursuant to unenforceable discretionary guidelines and goals that can be ignored by 

the Agency. The only enforceable standard is the directive to provide for a certain 

percentage of “security areas” and “intermittent refuge areas” in each elk herd unit 

based on the existing, on-the-ground situation. The Service never explains or 

justifies how it arrived at the different levels of security in different elk herd units 

or how the different levels will achieve the same goals. “Security areas” are 

defined as an area of public land that is at least a 1,000 acres in size and at least a 

half mile from a motorized route open to the public between September 1st and 
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December 1st.  “Intermittent refuge areas” are areas of at least 250 acres in size and 

less than a half mile from an open road.  

39.  Under the new standard, the amount of available hiding cover is 

irrelevant to big game security. The only variables considered are the size of the 

area and its distance from an open road. Pursuant to this new treeless standard for 

managing big game security, large open areas, including areas subject to 

regeneration harvest or clear-cuts can qualify as big game security areas or refuges 

so long as they are a certain distance from open roads. Under the new standard, 

road densities on private lands inside the relevant elk herd units are not considered 

or factored into the equation. Roads open to the public during the fall hunting 

season on private lands within the elk management unit and inside the “security” 

area are not counted.  

40.  Under the new standard, temporary reductions in the amount of 

available “security” are allowed (so long as impacts are “mitigated” at the project 

level). The Service does not explain how impacts can and will be mitigated. Under 

the new standard motorized use of roads and routes during the hunting season are 

not considered “open” if such uses are associated with various “management 

activities and projects,” including logging projects, private land access, grazing and 

allotment management activities, mining, and other developments authorized by 
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the Service. The Service does not explain why such “administrative” use is exempt 

from the security standard and would have no impact on big game security.   

41.  The Service’s decision to eliminate Standard 4a and replace it with a 

new approach that removes the hiding cover component from big game security, 

excludes private lands within an elk herd unit, exempts temporary uses, and 

exempts a broad category of “administrative uses” is a substantial change that will 

have significant impacts on the environment, including big game species, 

threatened and endangered species, other wildlife, and habitat within the Divide 

landscape.  

42. The Service’s decision to eliminate Standard 4a and replace it with a 

new standard will likely have negative effects on the amount of hiding cover and 

habitat available for big game species and other wildlife species (including grizzly 

bears and Canada lynx). The Service’s decision to eliminate Standard 4a and 

replace it with a new treeless standard will influence current and future site-

specific actions that are occurring or are likely to occur within the Divide 

landscape. The Service’s decision to eliminate Standard 4a and replace it with a 

new treeless standard will likely displace big game from public lands and reduce 

hunting opportunities on public land in the Divide landscape. The Service’s 

decision to eliminate Standard 4a and replace it with a standard sets a precedent for 

how big game security is defined and managed in other areas of the Helena-Lewis 
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and Clark National Forest, other National Forests in Montana, and other National 

Forests and public lands throughout the West.   

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Violation of NEPA – failure to analyze impacts and disclose science) 

 
43. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate all preceding paragraphs. 

44. The Service’s decision to eliminate Standard 4a and replace it with a 

new treeless standard violates NEPA. Pursuant to NEPA, the Service is required to 

analyze the direct, indirect, and cumulative impacts of all federal actions. The 

Service’s environmental impact statement (EIS), which was prepared for the 

related Divide Travel plan, fails to analyze the environmental impacts (direct, 

indirect, and cumulative) of its decision to eliminate Standard 4a and replace it 

with a new standard.  

45. Pursuant to NEPA, the Service is required to insure the professional 

integrity, including scientific integrity, of the discussions and analyses included in 

an EIS. 40 C.F.R. § 1502.24. Accurate scientific analysis, expert agency 

comments, and public scrutiny are essential to implementing NEPA. 40 C.F.R. § 

1500.1(b). The Service may not rely on incorrect assumptions or data in an EIS, 

fail to disclose scientific gaps and shortcomings in the data, literature or models 

used, or mislead the public about various scientific findings and conclusions. 

46. The Service’s failure to analyze the environmental impacts (direct, 

indirect, and cumulative) of its decision and sufficiently discuss and disclose 

findings of the scientific literature on big game security in the EIS is “arbitrary, 

capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law” and/or 
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constitutes “agency action unlawfully withheld or unreasonably delayed.” 5 U.S.C. 

§§ 706 (2)(A) and 706 (1).   

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Violation of NEPA – alternatives) 

 
47. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate all preceding paragraphs. 

48. The Service’s decision to eliminate Standard 4a and replace it with a 

new and treeless standard violates NEPA. Pursuant to NEPA, the Service is 

required to rigorously explore and objectively evaluate all reasonable alternatives 

and, for alternatives which were eliminated from detailed study, briefly discuss the 

reasons for their having been eliminated. The Service’s EIS fails to evaluate a 

reasonable range of alternatives and fails to provide an explanation for eliminating 

other reasonable alternatives. The Service’s EIS only evaluated two alternatives: 

keep Standard 4a or a replace it with a new treeless standard. 

49. The Service’s failure to evaluate a reasonable range of alternatives or 

provide reasons for eliminating alternatives when eliminating Standard 4a and 

replacing it with a new treeless standard is “arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of 

discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law” and/or constitutes “agency 

action unlawfully withheld or unreasonably delayed.” 5 U.S.C. §§ 706 (2)(A) and 

706 (1).   

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Violation of NFMA – significant amendment requiring more procedure) 

 
50. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate all preceding paragraphs. 

51. Pursuant to NFMA, forest plans may be amended in any manner, but if 

the new management direction results in a significant change in the forest plan, 
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additional analysis and procedures must be followed. 16 U.S.C.§ 1604(f)(4). This 

statutory directive is consistent with the Service’s 1982 regulations, 36 C.F.R. § 

219.10(f)(1982), which the Service is using to implement its decision to eliminate 

Standard 4a and replace it with a new standard.  

52. The Service’s Forest Service Manual (FSM) § 1926.51 identifies factors 

to consider in determining whether an amendment is significant or nonsignificant. 

Nonsignificant amendments are those that: (a) do not significantly alter the 

multiple use goals and objectives for long-term land and resource management; (b) 

are simply adjustments to management area boundaries or management 

prescriptions; (c) qualify as “minor changes in standards and guidelines;” or (d) 

changes that provide opportunities for additional projects or activities that will 

contribute to achievement of management prescription. Significant amendments 

are changes that would: (a) significantly alter the long-term relationship between 

levels of multiple use goods and service originally projected; and (b) changes that 

may have an important effect on the entire land management plan or affect land 

and resources throughout a large portion of the planning area during the planning 

period. 

53. The Service’s decision to eliminate Standard 4a and replace it with a 

new treeless standard that removes the hiding cover component from big game 

security, excludes private lands within an elk herd unit, exempts temporary uses, 

and exempts a broad category of “administrative uses,” is a significant amendment 

or change to the forest plan that requires additional analysis and procedures 

pursuant to NFMA, 16 U.S.C.§ 1604(f)(4), the Service’ implementing regulations, 

and the FSM.  
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54. On March 1, 2016, the Service issued a record of decision and 

determined that eliminating Standard 4a and replacing it with a new standard was 

not a significant amendment and, as such, no additional analysis and procedures 

must be followed. 

55. The Service’s determination that eliminating Standard 4a and replacing it 

with a new standard is not a significant amendment requiring additional analysis 

and procedures pursuant to 16 U.S.C.§ 1604(f)(4) is “arbitrary, capricious, an 

abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law” and/or constitutes 

“agency action unlawfully withheld or unreasonably delayed.” 5 U.S.C. §§ 706 

(2)(A) and 706 (1).   

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Violation of section 7 of the ESA) 

 
56. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate all preceding paragraphs. 

57. Pursuant to section 7 of the ESA, the Service is required to consult with 

FWS to ensure that any actions it funds, authorizes, or carries out are “not likely to 

jeopardize the continued existence” of any listed species or result in the 

“destruction or adverse modification” of critical habitat. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2).  

58. Pursuant to section 7 of the ESA, the Service prepares a biological 

assessment to evaluate the potential effects of the action on listed species and 

critical habitat. 50 C.F.R. § 402.12(a).  In fulfilling the procedural requirements of 

section 7 of the ESA, the Service and FWS must use the best scientific and 

commercial data available. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2).  
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59. Pursuant to section 7 of the ESA, agency actions that are not likely to 

adversely affect a listed species or critical habitat are not required to obtain a 

biological opinion from FWS, so long as FWS provides a written concurrence in 

support of the Agency’s finding(s). 50 C.F.R. § 402.13. Actions that are “likely to 

adversely affect a listed species” or critical habitat must obtain a biological opinion 

from the FWS analyzing the effects of the agency action and including a finding 

whether the action “is likely to jeopardize the continued existence” of the species 

or result in the destruction or adverse modification of critical habitat. 16 U.S.C. 

§1536(b); 50 C.F.R. § 402.14.  Biological opinions must be based on the best 

available science. Id.; 50 C.F.R. § 402.14(g)(8).  

60. The Service failed to comply with section 7 of the ESA when it chose to 

eliminate Standard 4a and replace it with a new treeless standard. Pursuant to 

section 7 of the ESA, the Service prepared a biological assessment for its decision 

to eliminate Standard 4a.The Service’s biological assessment resulted in: (a) the 

issuance of a biological opinion from FWS for threatened grizzly bears which 

concluded that the Service’s related Divide travel plan would not jeopardize the 

continued existence of grizzlies; and (b) a concurrence letter from FWS that the 

related Divide travel plan is not likely to adversely affect threatened Canada lynx 

(lynx) or designated lynx critical habitat. The Service’s biological assessment and 

the FWS’s related biological opinion for grizzlies and concurrence letter for lynx 
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and lynx critical habitat violate section 7 of the ESA and are arbitrary and 

capricious because they only evaluate and analyze the impacts of the related 

Divide travel plan; they do not evaluate the effects of the Service’s decision to 

eliminate Standard 4a and replace it with a new treeless standard.  

61. The Service’s decision to eliminate Standard 4a and replace it with a 

new treeless standard qualifies as “agency action” for purposes of section 7 of the 

ESA. The Service’s decision to eliminate Standard 4a and replace it with a new 

treeless standard has and will impact current and future projects, actions and 

planning and is likely to adversely affect grizzlies, lynx, and lynx critical habitat. 

62. The Service’s and FWS’s section 7 of the ESA documents (the 

biological assessment, concurrence, and biological opinion), fail to evaluate and 

analyze the “effects of the action,” i.e., the decision to eliminate Standard 4a and 

replace it with a treeless standard, on grizzlies, lynx, and lynx critical habitat as 

required by section 7 of the ESA. The Service’s and FWS’s section 7 of the ESA 

documents (the biological assessment, concurrence, and biological opinion) fail to 

evaluate and analyze the cumulative effects of  the decision to eliminate Standard 

4a on grizzlies, lynx, and lynx critical habitat. The Service’s and FWS’s section 7 

of the ESA documents (the biological assessment, concurrence, and biological 

opinion) fail to accurately discuss and utilize the best available science on big 

game security, the importance of providing hiding cover, and the potential impacts 
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of removing hiding cover as a component of elk security on grizzlies, lynx, and 

lynx critical habitat. The Service’s and FWS’s section 7 of the ESA documents 

(the biological assessment, concurrence, and biological opinion) fail to properly 

define the “action area” for the Service’s decision to eliminate Standard 4a. The 

Service’s and FWS’s section 7 of the ESA documents (the biological assessment, 

concurrence, and biological opinion) fail to analyze the impacts of the decision to 

eliminate Standard 4a on the recovery of grizzlies and lynx. The Service’s and 

FWS’s section 7 of the ESA documents (the biological assessment, concurrence, 

and biological opinion) fail to properly define the “environmental baseline” as 

defined by 50 C.F.R. § 402.02. 

63.  The Service’s and FWS’s failure to comply with section 7 of the ESA 

when consulting on how the Service’s decision to eliminate Standard 4a may 

impact grizzlies, lynx, and lynx critical habitat violates section 7 of the ESA, 16 

U.S.C. § 1536, and is “arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise 

not in accordance with law” and/or constitutes “agency action unlawfully withheld 

or unreasonably delayed.” 5 U.S.C. §§ 706 (2)(A) and 706 (1).   

REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request this Court:  

A.  Declare the Service has violated and continues to violate the law as 

alleged above;  
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B.  Remand this matter back to the Service with instruction to comply with 

NEPA, NFMA, and section 7 of the ESA by a specific date; 

C. Set aside the Service’s decision and, in the interim, reinstate Standard 4a 

pending compliance with the law;  

 D.  Award Plaintiffs their reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs and expenses of 

litigation pursuant to the Equal Access to Justice Act (EAJA), 28 U.S.C. § 2412, 

and/or section 11(g)(4) of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(4);  

E.  Issue any other relief this Court deems necessary, just, or proper or relief 

that Plaintiffs may subsequently request. 

 Respectfully submitted this 24th day of October, 2016. 
       

/s/ Matthew K. Bishop 
Matthew K. Bishop 

       
/s/ John R. Mellgren 
John R. Mellgren, admitted pro hac vice 

 
Counsel for Plaintiffs 
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